


. Certainly one visitor was King William 11 (William Rufus)
»rof the half dozen or so surviving writs issued by him two were
] from Brockenhurst just a few months before he was killed
t hunting in the New Forest. These writs were witnessed
landolph Flambard, the Bishop of Durham, who was Will-
hief minister but is better known locally as the man
sponsible for the rebuilding of Christchurch Priory.

In addition to the lands of these four manors there is a large
area in the south and east of the parish which has been known
_as Roydon ever since the 13th century but originally seems to
have been two separate manors, presumably these were the two
_ manors of Bovre whose exact whereabouts is not clear from the
'Domesday Book. King Henry 111 granted all this land to Netley
Abbey in 1250 and the Abbey, a daughter house of Beaulieu,
held it until the Dissolution of the monasteries in Tudor times.

When William the Conqueror created the New Forest he
completely changed the lives of local people by declaring that
almost all the land within its boundaries would come under
forest law. Deer, which are destructive animals were to be
aligwed free access to all this land and anyone harming them

risked severe punishment, whilst the erection of hedges or

f#nces was also forbidden so that it became very difficult to raise
crops of any sort. What happened to families who were treated
in this way is not always clear, sometimes Domesay Book
bluntly says they are not there, but more often we have to be
content with the ominous statement that their land is of no
lue. Nevertheless, it is clear that some people did remain, or
their land was re-colonized within a few generations, for
only have the Saxon place names survived but we also
ow the names of many people who were living in the parish
bout 200 years after the afforestation.

The pressure to remain, or at least return, must have been
great for the Conquest was followed by a 250 year period of

increasing population and the need for food could only be met
by bringing more and more land into cultivation. Fortunately
the difficulty of raising crops was offset by the so call ‘forest
rights’ which allowed people to graze their cattle on the forest

it imprisoned the uncle o

the Steward offered to guarar
heard how the son of th

his opposite number
hunt at whic



hlps for the Navy. More importantly the Reformation had

swept away all the great religious houses and Brockenhurst was
in effect, a fully fledged parish although it shared its vicar
Boldre until late in the 19th century.

‘During the reign of Charles I the church registers list about
0 different family names, which is much the same number as
the early years of Queen Victoria, but during the 20 years of
_ivil War and Commonwealth Government more than half of
these names disappeared and new families gradually took their
lace. No doubt there were many reasons for this and disease
t have been one for in 1641, 1645 and again in 1653 the
eath rate virtually doubled with a large number dying within a
w weeks, the same thing happened in 1669, when four people
were buried on the same day, whilst 1671 was another bad year
although in this case the register particularly mentions thatene
man was killed ‘by his gun used on the Lord’s Day’.

Apart from such natural problems families throughout the

forest suffered considerably from wartime skirmishes and from

illaging by both Royalist and Parliamentary forces. The theft

r deliberate destruction of entire village food supplies was

- commonplace and Royalist forces, for instance, having failed

to take Christchurch retreated towards Lymington taking all

the farmer’s corn with them and it is said that many families had
o0 leave their homes because of this.

After the return of Charles II efforts were made to restore
some sort of order to forest affairs and one important move was
to make the first official register of the traditional forest rights.
These rights belong to houses and land, not to people, but are
of course exercised by the occupier who is then described as a

mmoner. The 1964 list recognizes the rights to have turves or

for fuel; to graze ponies, cattle, donkeys and, in a few
cases , sheep on the open forest; to turn out pigs in the autumn
when the acorns and beech mast fall and to take marl (a
relatively alkaline clay) to improve the thin acid soils which
abound in the locality.

] During the next century, the 1700s, land use in Brock-
rst began to take on a pattern which continued almost to




ouse built in a single night to exploit this weakness in the
per’s powers.

y the end of the 1700s there were hundreds of such plots
ttered around the forest although most of them were too
all to sustain a family, and the occupants scraped a pre-
carious living from their holdings and livestock supplemented
y such work as carting gravel for the roads and selling turves
r fuel. In 1801 the Crown regularized the position of these
squatters by conceding that, for practical purposes, most of
- them were absolute owners of their properties.

- During the 1700s two events occurred of particular import-
ance to poorer people, one was the founding of a charity school
‘and the other the setting up of a village poorhouse. In 1745
Henry Thurston, a coachman who had left the village to work
in London, bequeathed a substantial sum of money to set up a
school for the poor boys and girls of his native village; the
 children could join at any age from 6 to 12 and stay for up to
four years, the standard of teaching seems to have been quite
high and for nearly 70 years there were always 12 boys and 12
girls attending the school where they were taught by both a
master and a mistress. In summer the hours were from 7a.m. to
‘ 5p.m. and in winter from 8a.m. until 4p.m. in addition to
which some pupils had a two mile walk to school.

e school records make fascinating reading; in 1794 Oba-
th Sharp, aged 11, left to go to Newfoundland; the following
r two boys and a girl, all aged 11, went into service whilst
ther girl was ‘incapable of instruction’. In 1799 one boy was

away from school to work, another went to sea and two

‘went into service but a third boy and two more girls left
r completing the full four year course at which time pupils
re presented with a primer and a Testament. In 1819 it
:came the National School for the whole village and most
ils had to pay a few pence a week but the charity continued
some years later a widow was still able to have her son
cated there even though she had become a pauper.

The Poorhouse was just one aspect of the system of parish
lief which, at least in Brockenhurst, was far more humane
n the notorious Union Workhouse system which replaced it
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teresting occupations occur in the 1851 census; although the

nion workhouses had long since taken over from the parish

rhouse two young women were being employed to look after

rly village paupers in their own homes and twelve men were

already employed by the railway which had arrived only three
ars earlier.

- The coming of the railway made the greatest change of all to
is quiet village, cutting right through the centre where two
vel crossings were made within a hundred yards, one of these
ill remains but the other in North Road, is now just a foot-

bridge. Another road, which had been the main road to
Beaulieu, was closed completely and a new cut made alongside
Ash Cottage, on the Lymington side of the crossing, to replace
it. The line went so close to the old Bat and Ball inn that smoke
went through the windows until it was eventually demolished
‘and the present Morant Arms built further back.

This railway line was just a single track which meandered
from Southampton through Brockenhurst and Ringwood to
Dorchester and was dubbed Mr Castleman’s corkscrew from the

y it opened, but it quickly changed the whole forest from a

tively backward agricultural district into a popular holiday
 residential area. Within a few years the track had been
oubled and a branch opened to Lymington though it was not
il the 1880s that the present main line was laid through
Christchurch to Bournemouth for, incredible though it may
em today, Bournemouth was only half the size of Brock-
nhurst when the first line was built and the vast new town-to-
simply didn’t enter into anyone's calculations. The original
ingwood line was closed in the 1960s but the route can still be
traced quite easily.

The London and South Western Railway Company soon

came the most important employer in the village — a photo-
raph taken about 1880 shows the station staff of twenty two
en — London could be reached in less than four hours and it is
aid that you could post a letter in Brockenhurst one morning
nd receive a reply from London the following morning.

From this time onwards property development was more
rofitable than agriculture, especially as agriculture itself was




y Road Bridge ha
Built about 1890 to replace No. 9 level crossing.

These are on the open forest almost due south from the
end of Sway Road. o
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Places marked on the sketch map

Church Lane ; ;
" Described in documents from the 14th to the 18th
_century as the Great or the King’s Highway to Brock-
enhurst, it continued down the east side of the church
where there is now just a gravel track. The present main
road down Tilebarn Hill is part of the Lymington to Rum-
bridge turnpike.

. The footpath

This public footpath soon crosses a fine avenue of lime
trees known as the Gallops; the flat land on the east side
was formerly the south field of the manor of Brockenhurst.
“The path then enters the Roydon Woods Nature Reserve
‘which extends to almost 1000 acres and is owned by the
- Hampshire and Isle of Wight Naturalists’ Trust. By follow-

ing the footpath far enough it is possible to either:-

(a) Turn right when you meet the gravel road and come
out on the main road at Setley near to the Filly Inn.

Turn left along the gravel road and then left again
through the gate near an orange topped marker post
when Roydon House can be seen. The Naturalist
W.H. Hudson often stayed here and his book Hamp-
shire Days contains many observations of wild life in
the area. The path continues over the river in an
easterly direction and passes Dilton Farm on its way
to the parish boundary and forest edge at Beaulieu
Heath. It was along this boundary that the saltway

ran.

(c) Instead of turning left at the bridleway continue ina
‘ southerly direction to the Red Lion at Boldre.

Brockenhurst House

~ The present house was built in the 1960s after the
demolition of the old mansion of the Morant family which
stood on the same site.
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